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E. Statement of Historic Contexts

The Episcopal Church in Central New York during the
administration of the Diocese of New York: 1786-1838 p.1

The Episcopal Church in Central New York during the
administration of the Diocese of Western New York: 1838-1868 p.10

The Episcopal Church in Central New York during the
administration of the Diocese of Central New York: 1868-1929 p.17

Encompassing an area of nearly 12,000 square miles, the Diocese of Central New Y ork
includes fourteen counties in the central upstate region of New York. The Diocese, one of six in
New York State, is bounded on the east by St. Lawrence, Herkimer, Otsego and Delaware
Counties in the Diocese of Albany, to the south by Pennsylvania, on the west by Steuben,
Schuyler, Yates and Wayne Counties in the Diocese of Rochester and to the north by the St.
Lawrence River. Located throughout the area, the Diocese’s historic churches include six property
types developed in varying patterns as administration of the central upstate region passed from the
Diocese of New York to the Diocese of Western New York and finally to the Diocese of Central
New York. Ranging from early Federal churches with Gothic detail to mid-nineteenth- century
Gothic Revival buildings to the non-historicist styles of the turn of the twentieth century, the
churches are significant in the area of architecture as Diocesan evidence of local and national trends
in Episcopal church design. Each property is also significant for its association with the progress
of the Church and the growth of central New York from the end of the Revolutionary War to the
beginning of the Depression. The development of Episcopal church architecture will be discussed
within the context of Church administrative periods beginning with the Diocese of New York
established in 1786. To ensure relevance for central New York, the context statement will be
confined to discussion of Church administrative and architectural history in the Northeast.

The Episcopal Church in Central New York during the administration of the
Diocese of New York: 1786-1838

Now an area with considerable variation in population density among its cities and rural
communities, today’s Diocese was a sparsely settled wildemess when Episcopalians first
worshipped there at the end of the eighteenth century. The Diocese traces its roots even earlier, to
the activities of the Church of England in the Colonies in the pre-Revolutionary War years, when
central New York was little more than a geographical expression. Although Roman Catholic
missionaries from Canada had penetrated central New York by the mid-seventeenth century, the
area received only minor attention from the Anglican Church until after the Revolution. Minimal
though they were, these earliest activities presaged expansion of the Church in tandem with
settlement of the area in the early nineteenth century. Settled by the Dutch West India Company,
New York was home to many Dutch Reformed congregations when the Anglican Church was in
its infancy. Even after English ascendancy in 1664, Anglican services were confined, as they had
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been earlier, to the forts in New York and Albany,! and the only resident Anglican priest was the
garrison chaplain.2 With the establishment in 1697 of Trinity Church, New Y ork, the first
formally organized parish in the Province of New York, the Church of England planted a
permanent foothold in the colony. And with the construction of Trinity’s first building in 1698,
the Church’s architectural presence in the present state began, a presence extended north when, in
1710, Queen Anne ordered a church built in Albany, then the gateway to the wilderness St.
Peter’s Church, Albany, was built in 1715.

Incorporation in England of the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in Foreign Parts,
the S.P.G., in 1701, supported missionary activity in New York and elsewhere and was the first
serious effort by the English to enlarge the Church in the colonies. - Encouraged by the S.P.G., a
slow but persistent trickle of English clergy into New York, begun in the seventeenth century,
continued in the early eighteenth, and the Church expanded along the Hudson River Valley to
Albany and west to Schenectady, both sites of earlier Anglican activity. West of Albany,
missionary work was promoted by gifts of prayer books, altar furnishings and communion
services to the Indians from Queen Anne. This pioneer missionary activity was particularly
noteworthy as it foreshadowed later penetration of the Church into the Mohawk Valley and central
New York. In 1710, the S.P.G sent the Rev. William Andrews to preach among the Oneidas.
Although he remained only briefly, he was the first clergyman to labor in what is now the Diocese
of Central New York3 Of greater importance in establishing the Church in the Mohawk Valley, in
today’s Diocese of Albany, was the work of William Johnson, agent of the colony in its dealings
with the Indians, and patron of the Church in its missionary work. Genuinely concerned for the
Indians’ spiritual needs, Johnson and the S.P.G. with which he worked, also believed that the
spread of the Gospel to the Indians by the Church of England, rather than the Jesuits of France,
best served England’s political and military interests. Through his efforts, churches were built at
Schenectady, Fort Hunter, Johnstown and Indian Castle,4 the latter three as mission churches for
the Indians. Despite this early Church activity, settlement in the central upstate wilderness was not
broadly encouraged. Because the Indians were necessary allies in their struggle with France, the
English were hesitant to settle on their lands, and pre-Revolution Church work in areas west of
Albany was largely limited to service to the Iroquois tribes.>

While the early presence of the Church was significant for later expansion, the scale of its
missionary work in the New York colony was relatively small. Of nearly 400 clergymen sent by
the Bishop of London to America between 1745-81, only 17 were destined for New York.6 At
the outbreak of the Revolution, New York could count approximately 30 congregations, a small

1 James Elliott Lindsley, This Planted Vine: A Narrative History of the Episcopal Diocese of New York
(New York: Harper & Row, 1984), p.6.

2 William Freeman Galpin, Diocese of Central New York: The Founding Fathers (Boonville, NY: Willard
Press, 1958), p.5.

3 Ibid., p.5.

4 Lindsley, p.5.

5 Galpin, p.5.

6 Lindsley, p.43.
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number compared with 81 Dutch Reformed groups and 61 Presbyterian.7 Although they were few
in number, these early parishes, nearly all of which still exist,8 provided a stable base for the
Church’s growth after the Revolution. A primary reason for the relative slowness of the Church to
expand was the absence of an American episcopate. The appointment of bishops for the provinces
was a controversial topic, with the colonists, including some Anglicans, fearing English bishops
because of their connection to the crown. On the opposite side, the mother Church was reluctant to
consecrate colonial clergymen who would not pledge allegiance to the king. Without an
ecclesiastical framework for supervision of the colonies, vigorous growth was difficult. Despite
an emphasis on the episcopacy in England, the American church was very congregational in its
beginnings, a fact certainly expressed in the meeting house character-of its early buildings,
particularly in the rural areas of New England and upstate New York.

During the Revolution, the Anglican Church lost many clergymen who fled to Canada and
England. Some church buildings in New England and New Y ork were looted and burned, while
others were closed but remained standing and available for services after the war. While full
investigation of the number and appearance of buildings constructed in the Northeast before and
immediately after the Revolution is beyond the scope of this nomination, that information would no
doubt shed light on sources for the form and style of churches built in central New York in the
early nineteenth century

In some disarray after hostilities ceased, the American church was forced to reconstitute
itself. State conventions of clergy after 1780, took up the issues of organization and authority.
With the majority of its clergymen remaining at their posts, Connecticut maintained the strongest
nucleus of the Church® and took the initiative in redefining Anglicanism on American soil.
Connecticut’s bishop, Samuel Seabury, consecrated in Scotland in 1783, became the first
American bishop. Because many of central New York’s settlers emigrated from Connecticut, the
strength of the Church there certainly contributed to its early establishment in the upstate
wilderness. With the choice of Samuel Provoost as bishop of New York in 1786, the Diocese of
New York, encompassing the entire state, was officially organized. For its first decade the
Diocese was consumed with demands in the more populated areas from New Y ork through the
Hudson River Valley to Albany. Little attention was paid to the vast, scantily-populated expanse

west of Albany.10 However the area was not entirely forgotten; missionary organization began at
the 1796 State Diocesan Convention with the founding of the Society for the Propagation of the
Gospel in New York State.

Like pioneers of all faiths in central New York, the first Eplscopallans were largely of
English stock and emigrated from New England and the eastern counties of New York to today’s
upstate region shortly after the close of the Revolution. Land confiscated from the Loyalists and
obtained by treaty with the native Indians was available from the State, sometimes for purchase and

7 David Maldwyn Ellis, New York: State and City (Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1979), p.69.

8 Lindsley, p.81.

9 Raymond W. Albright, A History of the Protestant Episcopal Church (New York: The Macmillan
Company, 1964), p.124.

10 Galpin, p.10-11.
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other times as a grant for military service during the Revolution. The prospect of free homesteads
on fresh, fertile land and profitable land speculation lured thousands from the stony, worn-out
farms of New England. Early transportation routes by water and primitive road, particularly along
the Mohawk Valley corridor, gave the burgeoning population access to many areas of today’s
Diocese. Rapid expansion of the transportation network promoted continued growth. Ox-carts,
wagons and stagecoaches on improved roads and turnpikes, steamboats on lakes and rivers, and
canal boats on the Erie Canal and its many feeders soon carried settlers throughout the region and
stimulated development of commercial agriculture, industry and a business economy. Church
administrative issues attending this growth eventually contributed to establishment of the Diocese
of Western New York in 1838.

The Yankees who settled upstate reconstructed the rural economy of southern New
England and the building stock of their native states. In their building, they followed the familiar
pattern of log cabins, saw mills, grist mills, post offices, stage lines, businesses, taverns, and, at
varying points in the succession, churches of one or another denomination. Although it was not
always the first church, the Episcopal Church was established early in many communities in the
Diocese. With the 1796 founding of the Society for the Propagation of the Gospel in New Y ork,
the Diocese began its efforts to move the Church into the upstate frontier. Ongoing, but certainly
not aggressive, the Church’s missionary efforts in the early nineteenth century, were slowed by a
lack of well-trained clergy, by inadequate financial support from a laity more used to a state-
established and financed religion and by lingering anti-British sentiment. In addition, many church
members in New England had been well-established citizens, while emigrants to upstate New Y ork
were largely farmers, often members of other Protestant denominations.11 Consumed with
operating a Church only recently separated from the Church of England, Bishop Provoost and
Bishop Benjamin Moore, second Bishop of the Diocese (1801-1816) remained largely in New
York. Although these first bishops did not promote missionary work with their physical presence,
Bishop Moore, particularly, was sympathetic to the need for the Church to expand vigorously
upstate. Shortly after Bishop Moore’s consecration, the Rev. Davenport Phelps was “employed as
a missionary on the frontiers of the State.”12 Along with Phelps, the Reverends Robert G.
Wetmore, Philander Chase and Daniel Nash, “apostles to the west,” were the first Episcopal
clergymen to minister to New Englanders settling in central and western New York. While
Phelp’s wide-spread efforts constituted a missionary crusade, Wetmore, who was dispatched in
1797, was significant as the first missionary to central and western New York.13 Wetmore’s visits
included the Indians at Oneida Castle and a stop at Paris Hill, where laymen from Connecticut had,
earlier in the year, established St. Paul’s Church, the first parish in the western portion of the state.
Among other connections, Chase is associated with the founding of the parishes at Utica (1804)
and Harpursville (1799), Nash with those at Binghamton (1810), New Berlin ((1814) and Oxford
(1814) and Phelps with those at Auburn (1805) Manlius (1804) and Geneva (1806, now in the
Diocese of Rochester).

11 For a more complete discussion of factors slowing missionary efforts see Albright, pp.148-49
and 162-63.

12 quoted in Lindsley, p.97.

13 Galpin, p.11.




OMB No. 1024-0018

United States Department of the interior
National Park Service

National Register of Historic Places Historic Churches of the
Continuation Sheet Episcopal Diocese of Central New York
Section E  Page5 Statement of Historic Contexts

[tinerant missionaries journeyed to new settlements to encourage the faithful to organize a
church. With meager financial support and dismal travel conditions, the first preachers’ visits were
infrequent, and some fledgling parishes foundered while others survived under the care of an
active laity. The earliest successful parishes were rooted near transportation corridors. Paris Hill,
Utica, Manlius, Auburn and Onondaga Hill grew up on the roads west, while Harpursville and
Binghamton developed along rivers in the Southern Tier. Building construction followed the first
church meetings at widely differing intervals depending on local social and economic
circumstances. While gathering the strength to build, fledgling parishes met in private homes,
schools, a hotel ballroom, public halls and churches of other denominations. Of the first seven
parishes and missions, established during the episcopacies of Bishaps Provoost and Moore, only
two, Auburn and Utica, had constructed buildings by the end of Moore’s tenure in 1811. More
cultivation clearly was needed for the Church to progress on the frontier.

With the consecration of John Henry Hobart as Assistant Bishop in 1811 and Bishop in
1816, the pace of Church expansion upstate increased rapidly. The 1814 treaty ending the War of
1812 ushered in an era of tremendous growth in central New York. Immigration from New
England continued unabated, and new towns and villages sprang up as an expanding road and
canal network carried settlers into regions increasingly distant from original travel routes.
Recognizing the opportunity available to the Church, Bishop Hobart was quick to improve its
administrative organization and efficiency and to establish a presence upstate. In 1812, he made
his first trip through central New York, a journey repeated eleven times before his death in 1830.14
Mindful of the need for more clergymen, in 1817, Hobart helped to establish the General
Theological Seminary in New York City with a branch in Geneva. The strong presence of the
Church in Geneva would be a factor in its reorganization into two dioceses in 1838. Assisted by a

growing central New York clergy that increased in number from five to 28 during his tenure,15
Hobart advanced the Church’s mission aggressively. Crisscrossing the region, he personally
performed baptisms, confirmed classes, preached the Gospel and consecrated buildings - a total of
17 between 1815-30, including St. Paul’s Church, Constableville (1817, not extant), the first
Episcopal church north of the Mohawk River.

Under Hobart, 31 parishes and missions were established, some of them beginning as
missions of the first parishes,!6 and each viewed by the Church as a base for future growth.
Hobart’s pivotal role in the expansion of the Church can scarcely be overemphasized. A confirmed
High Churchman, Hobart favored a catholic, but not papist, view of Church history, doctrine,
ritual and literature. His “High” or apostolic view saw the Church as descended by means of
bishops from the days of the apostles. He took great care to increase real faith in the Church by
explaining feasts and fasts and instructing people in how to observe them, by encouraging regular
reading of the Gospel and more frequent celebration of Holy Communion. Through his leadership
and exhortations, Hobart was successful in increasing loyalty to the teachings and worship of the
Church, a loyalty once expressed in the many churches built during his tenure and remaining in
those few survivors. Encapsulating Hobart’s work, Church historian, James Elliot Lindsley,

14 Galpin, p.20.
15 Ibid., p.21.
16 Ibid., p.22.
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states

The traveler who passes through any number of New Y ork
State hamlets is likely to spy a venerable Episcopal church.
Upon inquiry, he is told the building dates from 1825,

but Prayer Book services commenced in the village in 1817.

Eighteen seventeen! Ah, yes: Hobart!7

Beyond Hobart’s personal leadership, other factors contributed to the upstate expansion of
the Church. The Second Great Awakening, which began about 1800, and swept across the
country from coast to frontier, was notably successful in western New York. The religious
atmosphere of the period produced a generalized increase in church activism and attendance.
Hobart’s striking success, as evidenced in new churches, was one expression of the movement in
upstate New York. Another factor bearing even more directly on church construction was the role
Trinity Church, New York, played as a benefactor of smaller parishes and missions statewide and
beyond. A large land grant made by Queen Anne in 1705 endowed the church with a sizable
patrimony. The early bishops, in addition to their role at the Diocese level, were also rector of
Trinity Church, and in that role, were in a position to encourage Trinity’s munificence in fulfilling
the Diocesan responsibility to expand the Church upstate. Beginning with Moore’s tenure and
continuing for decades following, Trinity made grants of money, and sometimes property or
materials, to central New York parishes to assist with building construction. The first known grant
in central New York, a gift of land, was to Trinity Church, Utica, and it was followed by dozens
of others as the need to build grew in proportion to expanding membership. The fact that these
early gifts are generally recorded in parish histories suggests their pivotal role in promoting the
Church’s building program.

Following Hobart’s death in 1830, Benjamin T. Onderdonk became bishop, and was
responsible for the entire state until its division into two dioceses in 1838. Ongoing immigration
provided a constant labor supply, the Chenango and Chemung Canals were built, roads were
improved and economic development continued apace. Onderdonk extended Hobart’s energetic
missionary strategy, and the upstate Church flourished. Between 1830-40, the number of clergy

doubled,18 and the number of communicants in central New Y ork grew to over 1700, nearly twice

the 1830 total.19 The greatest strength was in the largest and wealthiest counties, Oneida,
Chenango and Onondaga, but gains were made diocese-wide. While growth was substantial as
measured internally, it is important to note that it occurred in the context of even greater gains for
the Methodists, Baptists and Presbyterians, the dominant churches in New York.

Like his predecessor, Onderdonk traveled widely. Between 1830-32, he visited every
church in the fourteen-county area, founded new missions and consecrated 27 buildings.
Fortunate in being able to build on the achievements of his predecessor, Onderdonk’s success was

17 Lindsley, p.102.
18 Ibid., p.125.
19 Galpin, p.33.
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due also to his skill in distributing financial assistance and assigning rectors and missionaries.20
Beyond building and membership statistics, increased attendance at the annual Diocesan
Convention was a measure of growing interest in the Church. Established at the founding of the
Diocese, and poorly attended by upstate churches for many years, the Convention was an
organizational and administrative tool intended to promote the Church’s stable development.
Incidentally, it also provided a forum for the exchange of information about construction projects
and building styles. As enthusiasm for the Church grew, the burden of traveling great distances to
make regular visitations to increasing numbers of parishes and missions suggested the need for
administrative change. In 1838, to address the travel problem and other operating issues, the
Diocesan Convention voted to create the Diocese of Western New York with its eastern boundary
following the present boundary of the Diocese of Central New York. With this decision Church
governance of the upstate region passed from New York City to Geneva where the Bishop of
Western New Y ork was seated.

While the social and religious contexts for the growth of the Church and the erection of its
buildings can be detailed, specific references that will explain the choice of Gothic features as early
as the 1811 construction date of St. Peter’s Church, Auburn (not extant), the second building in
today’s Diocese (Figs.1,2), are more elusive. The standard view of early nineteenth-century
Episcopal churches is of “white-painted boxlike structures [that] used the severe, straightforward
lines of classic architecture.”2! While central New York’s Episcopal churches from the era of the
Diocese of New Y ork are universally boxy masses with gabled roofs and towers in the Federal
style as adapted from the Wren-Gibbs model for church design, they also, nearly universally,
display an application of Gothic detail in varying measures of complexity. Several explanations are
possible, but none are conclusive.

Collectively the churches from the Diocese’s first period are a demonstration of faith among
the increasing population. The result of growth, they were also contributors to growth; by
fostering community and sheltering local ministry to spiritual needs, each building promoted
stability on the upstate frontier. Fine buildings, proudly conceived, they displayed optimism for
the future. In many cases, through their stone materials or degree of articulation when built of
wood, the buildings also represent a willingness and an ability to invest then respectable amounts
of money in church work. Often when the church had been completed, a further sum was devoted
to building a rectory and horse sheds, and to maintaining a cemetery. Additions and alterations at
later dates were signs of changing fashion and liturgical needs and continued prosperity. Funds
for the churches were raised by subscription, the sale or rent of pews and often by application to
Trinity Church, New York, for aid. Donations of land, building materials or manual services were
often made as well. Only two Federal churches in central New Y ork, (Trinity, Utica, original
building, and St. Peter’s, Oneida Castle, neither is extant), were the work of a known architect,
Philip Hooker of Albany. All others were, in varying combinations, the work of local vestrymen
and/or contractors and carpenters. There was apparently little effort at the Diocesan level to affect
parish and mission church design except perhaps by example.

Given its venerable position in the Episcopal Church in America and active role in funding

20 1bid, p.30.
21 Lindsley, p.141.
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church construction, the example of Trinity Church, New York, well may have loomed large.
While the first Trinity Church building (1698, Fig.3), exhibited traces of Gothic survival, the
second building (1788-90, Fig.4), had the mass and form of a Wren-Gibbs church, but the detail,
with its pointed-arch windows, corner pinnacles and clustered colonnettes, was Gothic.
Architectural historian William Pierson notes that the second Trinity is among the first, if not the
first, church in America to reach back through the classical hegemony of the Wren-Gibbs tradition
to the Gothic as the style appropriate for church architecture. In the absence of a documented
explanation for the choice, Pierson speculates that Trinity was a conservative parish, and having

worshipped in a Gothic building in the past, was determined to continue to do s0.22 Beyond
Trinity, St. John’s Church, Providence, Rhode Island (1810), is theonly documented example of
an Episcopal church of meeting house form with Gothic detail, constructed before the completion
of St. Peter’s Church in Auburn in upstate New York. Other examples no doubt existed but are
presently unknown. Many New Y ork State Episcopal churches constructed before the building
boom in central New York are, however, known. The group includes St. George’s Church,
Schenectady (1759), Christ Church, Duanesburg (1792-93), St. Peter’s Church, Hobart (1801),
St. Peter’s Church, Albany (1802-03), St. Paul’s Church, Troy (1804-05), Trinity Church,
Fairfield (1806), Christ Church, Cooperstown (1810-15) and several churches in today’s
Westchester County. In each case, the buildings follow the Wren-Gibbs plan and exhibit round-
arch windows and classical detail, a fact which makes the early choice of the Gothic arch at Auburn
all the more significant. Other important Federal churches with Gothic detail were constructed both
in New England and New York. They include Trinity Church, New Haven, CT (1814-17), St.
Luke’s Church, Rochester (1824-27) and St. Paul’s Church, Troy (1826-28), and all were
probably well enough known to have inspired later church design in central New York. However,
none was early enough to have sparked the trend started in Auburn and continued in nearly
unbroken succession through all Federal style buildings constructed in the Diocese. In the absence
of another explanation, Trinity, New Y ork, remains as the logical inspiration for the wholesale
adoption of Gothic ornament for early Episcopal church architecture in central New York.

Once the Gothic style had made its appearance at Auburn, St. Peter’s itself may have
provided a model for continued use of pointed arches. Traveling clergy, including the Bishop,
probably praised the new church, encouraging imitation along the way. Vestry minutes and extant
building specifications document early churches serving as design sources for those that followed.
Christ Church, Manlius (1813) looked to Trinity Church, Geneva (1808-09) for the design of its
steeple. Hooker’s specifications for flat arch windows at St. Peter’s Church, Oneida Castle (1818-
19) were modified by the local building committee as follows, “The windows are to be
gothic...like those of the Episcopal Church in Utica [Trinity, modified with Gothic windows
before 1818]723 (Fig.5). News about church construction also spread via church newspapers
including the Gospel Messenger first published in 1827, in Auburn. The Messenger focused
largely on central and western New York and included news of church consecrations, often with

22 William H. Pierson, Jr., American Buildings and Their Architects: Technology and the Picturesque, The
Corporate and the Early Gothic Styles (Garden City: Doubleday & Company, 1978), p.115.

23 Douglas G. Bucher and W. Richard Wheeler, A Neat Plain Modern Stile: Philip Hooker and His
Contemporaries, 1796-1836 (Amherst: University of Massachusetts Press, 1993), p.184.
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glowing descriptions of new buildings, perhaps a source of inspiration for local designers of later
churches.

Beyond these channels of communication, the enthusiasm of Bishops Hobart and
Onderdonk for the Gothic style doubtless contributed to its application upstate. The two men
officiated during the birth of the Romantic movement in America. Following the English example,
Americans, consumed with the novels of Sir Walter Scott, abandoned eighteenth-century
rationalism and rediscovered the Gothic art and architecture of the Middle Ages. Originally
conceived for the Church, the Gothic style was introduced in America largely through church
architecture where it was seen as appropriate because of its long reach back to divine origins. At
least in New York State, given the example of Trinity Church, the Episcopal Church, grounded in
apostolic succession, never entirely abandoned a preference for the Gothic style. With the
connection between romanticism and religion “in the air”, and the example of Trinity behind them,
the bishops, men of their times, were naturally interested in the new style. While they are not
known to have produced church plans or commented on parish plans before construction, they
were Anglophiles, and their enthusiasm for the Gothic style is documented. Following the
completion of St. John’s Church, Canandaigua, in 1816 (Fig.6), Hobart called the church
“remarkably beautiful and commodious” and suggested it “may serve in some measure as a model

for other churches.”24 The building had extensive Gothic detail, and Hobart’s enthusiasm for the
design must have ensured its application throughout the Diocese.

Both High Churchmen, the bishops played an even more direct role in modifications at the
chancel end of church interiors. Despite Hobart’s exalted view of the Church, the “High”
ceremonies and accompanying major changes in church interiors that would occur at mid-century
were unknown during his tenure.25 Both the service and interior arrangement, with the chancel in
the main block of the church building, remained much as they had been since the days of Bishop
Provoost. However, in 1826, Hobart introduced a new version of the “triple decker” pulpit,
complete with Gothic detail (Fig.7), which became an important interior feature in many churches
built during and after his tenure. Where the high pulpit and lectern earlier had been placed in front
of and had obscured the altar, Hobart, demonstrating more High Church concern for the
sacraments, moved the altar in front of the pulpit where the ceremony surrounding its use could be
seen. Onderdonk, displaying the period’s growing interest in Gothic form, favored an enlarged
and raised chancel with a high ceiling, the altar at its center and the pulpit and reading desk moved
to the sides. His preference foreshadowed what would become the normal arrangement of
Episcopal churches during the Gothic Revival period.

With its buildings as evidence of slow but steady progress across the frontier, the
Episcopal Church in central New York greeted the creation of the Diocese of Western New York
with optimism for the future. A few churches would continue to be built in the old Federal style,
but by the close of the 1840s, enthusiasm for High Church ideals translated into construction of
both frame and masonry churches in the Gothic Revival style as the Church continued its program
of expansion at mid-century.

24 Charles Wells Hayes, The Diocese of Western New York: History and Recollections ( Rochester:
Scrantom, Wetmore & Co.), pp.42-43.

25 for discussion see Lindsley, pp.116 and 127-29.
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The Episcopal Church in Central New York during the administration of the
Diocese of Western New York: 1838-1868

Creation of the Diocese of Western New York was the first instance of successful
formation of a diocese not bounded by state lines. The dividing line intentionally split the area and
population of the state almost equally. With only 90 of the state’s 232 churches in Western New
York, the new diocese seemed fertile ground for continued advancement. Establishment of a
second diocese in New York was in part a reflection of growing High Churchmanship in that it
allowed for the bishop’s more direct personal supervision of his people.26 As might have been
anticipated, the bishop elected to lead the new diocese was a High Chiurchman “of the Hobart
school,” the Rev. William Heathcote De Lancey. Like his predecessors, he pursued an active
policy of expansion, noting in his address to the Diocesan Convention of 1840, “Every county in
the Diocese furnishes missionary ground, and will be likely to furnish new stations for years to
come.”

The Diocese of Western New York was born as the country struggled to rebound from the
Panic of 1837. While immigration into central New Y ork continued, many people moved on to the
territory even further west, and growth of the Church slowed temporarily, with little new church
construction between 1837-41. Ongoing transportation improvements in the 1840s stimulated
recovery in central New York and beyond. Enlarged between 1835-62, the Erie Canal promoted
growth in Utica, Rome, Syracuse and other communities along its length. The Black River Canal
built 1836-55, promoted growth to the north just as the Oswego and Chenango Canals encouraged
continued development in their quadrants of the Diocese. The Syracuse and Utica Railroad,
completed in 1839, introduced rail transportation to central New York. Rapid expansion of the rail
network during the next three decades created competition for the canal system and encouraged
economic growth throughout the Diocese.

Shortly after his consecration, Bishop De Lancey expressed his optimism for the future
with an insightful assessment of the upstate region’s many assets. He noted

“...the rich landscapes with which our Diocese abounds, its thrifty farms,

its fertile fields, its herds and flock, its well-wooded forests, its valley

clothed with corn and wheat, its towns expanding into cities, its rivers

studded with castlelike factories, its numerous lakes bearing on their noble

bosoms the agents of wealth, [and] its long lines of canal and railroad

supplying the facilities of rapid, certain and easy intercourse.27
The context for the Bishop’s comments was an administrative need to increase local giving to
various Diocesan funds used to support missionary activities. Division of the state into two
dioceses had raised concern that the new Diocese of Western New York, with greatly reduced
funding from its “mother” diocese and from Trinity Church, New York, would have difficulty

26 Albright, p.292.

27 William H. De Lancey, D.D., “A Pastoral Letter to the Clergy and Churches in the Diocese of Western
New York: On the Regulation of the Convention Enjoining Monthly Collections for Church Objects,” Journal of
the Convention of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the Diocese of Western New York (Geneva, NY: Stow and
Frazee, 1839), p.14.
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becoming self-sustaining. Many churches were dependent for their existence on an annual stipend
from the Diocese. In the absence of adequate funding, the Bishop could not pursue an aggressive
growth policy in western New York, which was still largely frontier and needed to be treated as
such. To address the problem, De Lancey quickly instituted a more effective method of raising
funds for missionary and other works through monthly collections from each parish. Although the
funds raised were never as large as the Bishop hoped, they were sufficient to allow increased
subsidies and, in many cases, increased stability for missions throughout the Diocese.
Recognizing that a diocesan visit promoted local strength and benefiting from the new railway
network, Bishop De Lancey made regular visitations throughout central New York. His
persistence produced results in terms of growth, stability and accompanying building projects.
During his episcopate, over 40 parishes and missions were founded, with the greatest growth in

Oneida, Onondaga and Jefferson Counties.28

Because a church remained relatively weak without its own edifice, the Bishop was
concerned about financing and construction of new buildings. He encouraged each parish to begin
with a small structure within its means, proceeding to more elaborate facilities only when size and
funding allowed.2® An early Convention went on record as recommending the gathering of plans

and estimates for churches “suitable to the wants of the smaller parishes.”30 During this same
period, as a means of promoting local Church stability, the Bishop encouraged each parish to
provide a rectory to counteract “the frequent removals of the clergy, which so seriously interfere
with the prosperity of the Parishes.”31 While a few parishes continued to build in the Federal
style into the 1840s, most accepted the appropriateness for church design of the Gothic Revival
style introduced to the Diocese of Western New York with the construction of Grace Church,
Lyons (1838-40, now in the Diocese of Rochester, Fig.8) and to central New York with the
completion of St. Paul’s Church, Syracuse (second building, 1842, not extant, Fig.9).

Interest in the Gothic style, exhibited during the Federal era with consistency but little
understanding of its structural principles, increased at mid-century in response to events in
England. Although appreciation for medieval architecture and art had been an aspect of English
taste from the early eighteenth century, its use had been as decorative ornament. Application of the
style changed in tenor and intent in the 1830s because of its association with religious reform
advocated by the Oxford Movement and related architectural reform forwarded by the Cambridge
Camden Society. Centuries of struggle between High Church parties, representing a continuation
of Catholic tradition, and more Protestant sectors had left the Church of England weakened. The
Oxford Movement rejected the secularism of eighteenth-century Protestant domination over the
Church and called for spiritual renewal through return to a pre-Reformation High Church position
based on apostolic succession and tradition, with accompanying liturgical formality drawn from

28 Galpin, p.52.

29 De Lancey, “Address,” Journal of the Proceedings of the Fifth Annual Convention of the Protestant
Episcopal Church in the Diocese of Western New York (Utica: John P. Bush, 1842), p.32.

30 Galpin, p.120.

31 De Lancey, “Address,” Journal of the Proceedings of the Tenth Annual Convention of the Protestant
Episcopal Church in the Diocese of Western New York (Utica: H.H. Curtiss, 1847), p.47.
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medieval precedent.

Rejected too, were the classical revival styles associated with secularism, and in their place
the Gothic style, redolent of the unshakeable faith of the Middle Ages, grew in favor. Although
not formally connected to the Oxford Movement, the Cambridge Camden Society, later called the
Ecclesiological Society, in effect carried out the architectural program of the Oxford reformers.
The two groups believed that a liturgy based on medieval precedent required a ceremonial space
ordered by Church doctrine and replete with symbols as in the Middle Ages. Specifically, the
medieval parish church was promoted as the most appropriate historic model for new construction
because it had been developed to accommodate and express the ceremonial formality now sought
as a means of reinvigorating the Church of England. No longer was-the Gothic style appreciated
only for its visual attributes; instead it became desirable as the functional architecture of the
Church.

More authoritative scholarship in the second decade of the nineteenth entry had begun to
provide an understanding of Gothic architecture. John Britton’s Architectural Antiquities of Britain
(1804-14) was supplemented by Thomas Rickman’s Attempt to Discriminate Styles of English
Architecture (1817) and Augustus Charles Pugin’s Specimens of Gothic Architecture (1821).
Pugin’s son, A. W. N. Pugin, an architect and architectural theorist among other activities, became
the period’s most influential exponent of revival of the Gothic style. In his books, including
Contrasts (1836), Examples of Gothic Architecture (1838) and The True Principles of Pointed or
Christian Architecture (1841), Pugin elucidated the direct relationship between structure and form
inherent in Gothic churches and from this understanding developed the idea that architecture has
morality and that Gothic is the most moral style (see Fig. 10 for Pugin’s “Ideal Church”). In
America, where there were no medieval models, these books were a primary source for Gothic
Revival architects at mid-century. Their content was supplemented by the Ecclesiologist, the
monthly magazine of the Cambridge Society, first published in 1841. Filled with information on
church building, restoration, liturgy and symbolism, it carried the ideas of the Society throughout
the English-speaking world.

While most American Episcopal churches continued to be built along meetinghouse lines in
the 1820s and 1&30s, various designers produced isolated instances of more advanced Gothic
design at an early date. Josiah R. Brady’s St. Thomas’ Church, New York (1823-26, not extant,
Fig.11), with paired, buttressed towers, an open, trusswork ceiling and tinted glass windows, is
considered, if not the earliest, among the very earliest efforts at a more authentic Gothic. With
rough-cut stone walls, buttressed corners, entrance niches for statuary and tinted glass, Philip
Hooker’s St. Paul’s Church, Albany (1828-29, Fig. 12) represented a perceived advance in Gothic
design over St. Luke’s Church, Rochester (1824-28) and St. Paul’s Church, Troy (1826-28), up
to then the most complete Gothic buildin gs in upstate New York and among the most advanced in
the country. Bishop John Henry Hopkins’s Essay on Gothic Architecture (1836), the first
American book on the Gothic style, intended to promote understanding of the form but was
quickly overshadowed by the early works of A.W.N. Pugin. Available in America in the late
1830s, Pugin’s books, based on direct observation of Gothic construction, were considerably
more authoritative. Despite these few efforts at ecclesiastic Gothic, a review of church architecture
in the 1830s led critic Henry Russell Cleveland to lament that churches attempting Gothic were
really “Yankee meeting-houses with Gothic ornaments on them.”
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Reacting to the increasing complexities of modern society in the 1830s and 1840s,
Americans sought emotional refuge in the Romantic movement. Romantic architecture, like other
romantic statements, appealed to the senses and imagination rather than reason and intellect. It
looked to design sources remote in time and distance and favored naturalism, irregularity,
asymmetry and movement of light and shadow. Where the eighteenth century distrusted
architecture that excited the senses, the mid-nineteenth century embraced such romantic designs.
With naturalism and sensory appeal inherent in its organic structure and rich embellishment, the
Gothic style found great favor, particularly for ecclesiastical architecture where it implied a high
moral social order. The mid-Victorian era was one of great anxiety, of spiritual crisis in the face of
profound change. The structure of society was changing faster than the heritage of ideas. In this
context, the Episcopal Church offered the security, respectability and “correctness” of a long
institutional history. In a fast-moving, increasingly secular society, the Gothic parish church,
enduring and solid, symbolized regular worship by a nuclear community seeking moral order in a
chaotic world - Victorian morality writ in stone.

Architectural historian Phoebe Stanton dates the moment when substantive English Gothic
church architecture appeared in the United States to the construction of a group of churches in New
York City beginning with St. Peter’s, Chelsea (1836-38) and including Richard Upjohn’s Trinity
Church (1839-46) and Church of the Holy Communion (1844-45) and James Renwick’s Grace
Church (1843-46 ). Together they mark the beginning of serious revivalism based increasingly on
a thorough understanding of the interaction of structure and ornament in specific English
sources.32 Of this early group, Trinity Church (Fig.13) is considered the first to have exhibited
authoritatively the correctness of medieval form, ornament and liturgical function advocated by the
Ecclesiologists. Important as an embodiment of the new, archaeological Gothic, Trinity Church
was too large and elaborate to be duplicated in small communities and therefore less influential as a
specific design source than its seminal position might suggest. To accommodate the need for more
modest buildings, Upjohn designed the Church of the Holy Communion (Fig.14). Based on
English parish churches favored by the Ecclesiologists, Church of the Holy Communion
introduced asymmetry to American church design and became a model for small Episcopal church
construction nationwide. A second model for small churches, the bell-cote type, was introduced
with the construction of St. James-the-Less in Philadelphia in 1846-48, (Fig.15). Built under the
direct supervision of the English Ecclesiologists, St. James-the-Less was notable for the purity of
its English design. Upjohn’s St. Mary’s, Burlington, New Jersey (1846-48, Fig.16) made the
stone steeple the measure of successful church design. Along with a handful of others from the
1840s, these important churches demonstrated for an interested American audience the architectural
and ecclesiastical characteristics of the Gothic style.

Upjohn’s persuasive design for Trinity, widely-known due to the parish’s historically
prominent position within the Church, together with the ongoing influence of the English
Ecclesiologists, promoted great interest in applying Ecclesiological ideas to American church
building. The Episcopal denomination was growing rapidly in the 1840s and there was a need for
architectural information as new churches were required everywhere. To meet the demand, in

32 Phoebe Stanton, The Gothic Revival & American Church Architecture: An Episode in Taste, 1840-1856
(Baltimore: Johns Hopkins Press, 1968), pp.55-68.
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1848, a group of clergymen, architects educated in Gothic design and High Church laymen
founded the New York Ecclesiological Society and its monthly journal, the New York
Ecclesiologist. The journal was the first American periodical devoted solely to architecture and an
important aspect of the mid-century trend toward publishing architectural criticism in periodicals.
A compilation of information on church architecture, history and liturgical tradition, the periodical
recommended the Early English parish church as the most suitable model for new buildings.
Never subservient to the English Ecclesiological point of view, the journal’s editors acknowledged
the need to accommodate English designs to the American environment and social milieu.

Although Richard Upjohn (1802-1878) was the most influential architect in the spread of
Ecclesiological Gothic in America, he was not the only one working-for the Episcopal Church at
mid-century. The combined work of various others practicing in the field actually exceeded that of
Upjohn.33 Frank Wills (1822-1856) was appointed official architect for the New York
Ecclesiological Society at its founding and, at a time when many churches were being built, he was
influential through his buildings and, perhaps to a greater degree, through his writings and
published designs for modest parish churches. To further improve the quality of church buildings,
the Society published a list of five approved architects. All but one were English-born, and,
having experienced Gothic buildings first-hand, they shared an advantage over American-born
architects who had to make do with printed sources. Upjohn and Wills were on that list along with
John W. Priest (1825-1859), John Notman (1810-1865) and Wills’s partner, Henry Dudley
(1813-1894). From the time of its founding, the New York Ecclesiological Society received
numerous requests for church designs from all parts of the country. As official architect, Frank
Wills responded to many of them. Upjohn, too, received endless requests from small parishes and
often provided plans at little or no cost to churches of limited means. To broaden the availability of
good design information, he published Upjohn’s Rural Architecture in 1852. The book contained
plans for a small board-and-batten church (Fig.17) and an even smaller chapel buildable at
minimum expense. Applied in inestimable numbers throughout rural America, Upjohn’s plans
translated the stone English parish church into wooden structures uniquely suited to American
building conditions. In 1857, J. Coleman Hart produced a pattern book, Designs for Parish
Churches in Three Styles of English Church Architecture, considered as influential for builders of
stone churches as was Upjohn’s book for builders of wooden churches.

Broad acceptance of the parish church revival received an additional boost from the
writings of Andrew Jackson Downing, Anglophile and influential landscape gardener who, in the
early 1850s, expanded his efforts in cultivating taste to include church design. Lamenting the state
of rural church building as “heavy, rectangular wooden buildings...exhibiting the oddest possible
combinations of architectural orders,34 Downing offered a remedy in the design for “an English
country church” which he published in The Horticulturist in 1851 (Fig.18). Suited to its
landscape setting and Christian in its origin and form, the parish church possessed all the qualities
of naturalness and moral order that Downing admired. With his wide readership, Downing,
though not a member, was a very real asset to the Episcopal Church in its campaign to promote the
Gothic style.

33 Pierson, p. 201.
34 Stanton, p. 312.
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Each Church architect understood his buildings to be an expression of religious meaning.
The high level of ceremonial ritual reintroduced to the Church by the Ecclesiologists required the
ceremonial spatial organization of the medieval church with nave and sanctuary, and thus laity and
clergy, distinctly separate. A significant change from the earlier days when the more
congregational service focused on the sermon, the new service focused on celebration of the
sacraments with attention on the altar. What had seemed outright “popery” in terms of architecture
and liturgy became the norm beginning in the 1840s, and has remained central to the Church ever
since. In general, the English parish church form recommended to house the newly formal service
was rubrically arranged with its steep-roofed masses poised in asymmetrical balance to
accommodate interior function and fit comfortably into the surrounding landscape. An open side
porch often sheltered the main entrance and stood in counterpoint to a sacristy projecting from the
opposite wall and a tower with broached spire. Liturgical demands produced a generally
symmetrical interior scheme with a long nave directing attention to the chancel and altar. The
sacred nature of the chancel was symbolized by its elevation and an arch dividing it from the nave.
In more elaborate churches, exposed rafters and trusswork provided an upward thrust and stained
glass, available by the 1830s, tile floors and decorative painting created surface richness. In
smaller churches, interior ornament was often confined to dark-stained ceilings and rafters which
conveyed the solemnity of the ceremonial service. Designed to fill the needs of a growing Church
and actively promoted by the New York Ecclesiologists, the parish church, in a variety of guises,
became the model for new construction at mid-century.

Historians Alan Gowans and Phoebe Stanton have noted that the fate of Ecclesiological
Gothic depended on the attitudes of the clergy.35 It was used at an early date and most widely in
East Coast dioceses led by well-informed bishops and clergy of the High Church school initiated
by Bishop Hobart. A confirmed High Churchman and native of New Y ork City, Western New
York’s Bishop De Lancey must certainly have been familiar with the early work of Richard Upjohn
and the design principals of the New York Ecclesiologists. De Lancey made clear in an early
address to the annual Diocesan Convention that design decisions would continue to rest with
individual clergy and parishes, as they had in the past.36 Nonetheless, he appears to have
promoted the new Gothic style by recommending his relative, James De Lancey Walton, to design
Grace Church, Lyons (1838-40). Walton is said to have based his plans on direct study of country
churches in England.37 Whatever the sources, his buttressed stone building was the first Gothic
Revival church in Western New York based on substantive knowledge of the style. Grace Church
served as a model for St. Paul’s Church, Syracuse (1842), also of masonry, and the first Gothic
Revival church in central New York. Beyond De Lancey, several other clergymen, including H.
Gaylord Wood and Benjamin Hale, displayed a notable interest in church architecture. Whether or
not their level of involvement was unique in comparison with clergy elsewhere is presently
unknown. It was, however, extensive and contributed to a general climate of architectural

35 Alan Gowans, Styles and Types of North American Architecture: Social Function and Cultural
Expression (New York: HarperCollins, 1992), p.157 and Stanton, p.253.

36 De Lancey, “Address,” Journal of the Proceedings of the Ninth Annual Convention of the Protestant
Episcopal Church in the Diocese of Western New York, (Utica: HH. Curtiss, 1846), pp.44 and 48.
37 Hayes, p.142.
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enthusiasm in central and western New Y ork.

Perhaps through De Lancey’s efforts or Gothic leanings of parishes themselves, Richard
Upjohn was called upon to produce designs for central New York churches as early as 1846 when
St. Thomas’ Church, Hamilton was built in the board-and batten style (Fig.19). Upjohn produced
his first local design in masonry for St. Andrew’s Church, New Berlin (1847-48, Fig.20). The
first open timber roof in America supported wholly on hammer beams and spandrels, designed by
Calvin N. Otis for St. John’s Church, Buffalo (1846-48, not extant, Fig.21), was no doubt well-
known and a spur to further application of the Gothic style. Churches throughout central New
York followed the lead of these pioneering parishes in securing professional architects to design
buildings, small and large, frame and masonry, each a variation on the parish church prototype.
Other parishes relied on the services of local clergymen and contractors to produce more vernacular
buildings, all, from the late 1840s through much of the 1860s, designed in the Gothic mode.
Where a new building was beyond local means, older Federal churches were remodeled with
recessed chancels, repositioning of the pulpit and altar, stained glass and decorative paint
treatments, all reflections of Ecclesiological influence.

Throughout his episcopacy, Bishop De Lancey was unstinting in his efforts to encourage a
level of local giving sufficient to create stability at mission stations around the Diocese. Although
funding never reached the levels he sought, new parishes were founded and buildings constructed.
Perhaps because the Church, maintaining a historic position outside affairs of state, remained
largely uninvolved in the Civil War, churches continued to be erected throughout the conflict.
During his tenure, De Lancey consecrated 38 church buildings,38 and at the time of his death in
1865, it was said, “the territory entrusted to his oversight blossoms all over with buildings, and
with spires.”3® Bishop De Lancey was succeeded by the Rev. Arthur Cleveland Coxe. Postwar
growth and prosperity suggested the advisability of dividing the upstate area once again, and
following his consecration, Bishop Coxe turned his attention to the task ahead.

38 Galpin, p.52.
39 The Rev. James H. Adams et al., Upjohn Gothic Revival Architecture in Geneva, New York: Original
Drawings and Historic Photographs (Geneva: Geneva Historical Society, 1987}, p.10.
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The Episcopal Church in Central New York during the administration of the
Diocese of Central New York: 1868-1929

While population growth and economic prosperity slowed in central New York
communities during the Civil War, the end of hostilities introduced a period of rapid
industrialization and increased agricultural productivity. As had occurred thirty years earlier, the
logistical and financial demands of trying to serve ever increasing numbers of people created
administrative problems for the Episcopal Church. The issue was addressed by the creation of
three new dioceses in 1868. The Diocese of Central New Y ork was subdivided from the eastern
portion of the former Diocese of Western New Y ork, and has maintained its fourteen-county
configuration since that date. To the east, the Dioceses of Albany and Long Island were created
from the Diocese of New York. Dr. Frederic Dan Huntington, rector of Emmanuel Church in
Boston, was elected first Bishop of Central New York in 1869. Raised a Unitarian, Huntington
had converted to the Episcopal Church in 1860, much to the consternation of his Boston Brahmin
social circle. His early upbringing was imbued with the social consciousness of New England
Unitarian liberalism, a liberalism reflected in the institutional development of the Diocese under
Bishop Huntington’s guidance until his death in 1904.

The Bishop found in the new Diocese an area of agricultural diversity and ongoing
industrial development. Population shifts continued with many earlier settlers moving west to
fertile Genesee Valley lands and beyond to the Old Northwest, and others lured to regional cities
by commercial and factory jobs. While the number of farmers gradually declined, agricultural
productivity increased. With wheat production moving west, central New York farmers turned to
dairying, hops and fruit growing, and agriculture remained a stable segment of the economic life of
the Diocese through the first half of the twentieth century. The Industrial Revolution in upstate
New York had begun before the Civil War with the arrival by canal and railroad of Pennsylvania
coal which provided a reliable alternative to water as a power source for manufacturing. Local and
national urban markets demanded goods, labor was plentiful, and central New Y ork cities created a
wide variety of products. In the decades following the Civil War, Syracuse, at the center of the
Diocese, led in the manufacture of bicycles, gears, steel and eventually automobiles. Like other
small cities throughout the Diocese that became largely industrial in character, Utica grew as a
center for knitting mills, Rome for brass and wire factories, Endicott and Johnson City for shoes,
and Jefferson County towns developed paper mills. Along with the regional agricultural economy,
this extensive and varied industrial basis created a secure foundatlon for central New York through
World War I1.

Like his predecessors, Bishop Huntington viewed hlS Diocese as a field for active rural and
urban missionary work. Many parishes stood along railroad lines where active settlement had
occurred (see 1869 map of Diocese), others in urban areas where population density was high.
Between were vast rural areas perceived by the Church as unserved and in need of missionary
efforts. Because growing urban populations needed ministering and because urban areas could
provide spiritual and financial support for missionary work elsewhere in the Diocese, the Bishop
was concerned, too, with the founding of new parishes in area cities. To advance his goals,
Bishop Huntington ‘took steps to improve the efficiency of missionary efforts. Among the
administrative changes was the division of the Diocese into Districts with parishes in each District
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responsible for coordinating and improving local outreach. In addition, a system of individual
pledge offerings was adopted by most parishes for the first time with the result that, as early as

1870, increased funds were raised for Diocesan work.40 To address the need for more clergymen
to carry out the Church’s mission, in 1876, the Bishop founded St. Andrew’s Divinity School in
Syracuse. Before closing in 1905, the school trained approximately seventy-five ministers, at least
a dozen of whom worked in the Diocese.41

National financial reversals in the 1870s and 1890s and ongoing parishioner apathy
hampered the raising of funds. Despite additional organizational reforms in the late nineteenth

century and the best efforts of the Bishop, local giving never measured up to its potential.42
Shortages and rapid turnover of clergymen persisted as well. Regardless of the perpetual problems
of limited money, men and organization, considerable expansion of the Church occurred during the
Huntington years. Parishes and missions were founded and buildings raised in rural hamlets,
including Slaterville Springs and Chadwicks, and in cities where older churches founded small
missions devoted to social service, and larger churches were established to serve expanding

residential neighborhoods outside the urban center.43 Just outside Syracuse, Cornelius Vanderbilt
provided funding for a mission church (Emmanuel Church, 1883) to serve the railroad workers at
the transportation hub developing in East Syracuse. With the growth of leisure time after the Civil
War, a few summer churches were built in resort communities including Kidders (All Saints’
Church, 1880, not extant) on the west side of Cayuga Lake and Alexandria Bay (Church of the St.
Lawrence, 1887-91, W.P. Wentworth) on the St. Lawrence River. As populations shifted, small
missions were sometimes combined to conserve precious dollars. While many churches founded
during Bishop Huntington’s tenure are active in 1996, many more have closed, some after very
short lives and others after several decades of service. In other areas, industrial growth in the early
decades of the twentieth century and the efforts of local clergy resulted in new parishes including
Johnson City, where Binghamton clergymen worked to establish All Saints’ Church in 1918 to
serve shoe factory workers. Despite measurable and enduring Church progress between 1868 and
1929, the end of the period covered by this document, the reality is that the great majority of
presently active parishes were founded before the creation of the Diocese of Central New York, a
fact which suggests the permanence of much of the earliest settlement pattern in central New Y ork.
Construction projects in the new Diocese of Central New York were not confined to church
buildings. The post-Civil War social service movement necessitated additions to many churches
and a variety of new institutional buildings. Bishop Huntington bore with him to his upstate
Diocese, the legacy of social and humanitarian reform movements spearheaded by New England
Unitarians in the mid-nineteenth century. His sense of social justice combined with indigenous
efforts to produce societies devoted to care for the sick, poor and homeless and promotion of

40 William Freeman Galpin, Diocese of Central New York: The Huntington Years (Boonville, NY: Willard
Press, 1968), p.93.

41 Charles Fiske, Our Diocese: A Study of the History and Work of the Church in the Diocese of Central
New York, p.40.

42 Galpin, Diocese of Central New York: The Huntington Years, p.113

43 Tbid., pp.358-62 for listings of new parishes and missions.
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temperance and Christian education, among other causes. The institutional parish of the late
nineteenth century included many organizations, often called “guilds,” formed to promote
charitable deeds. They required meeting space, and parish houses or guild halls were sometimes
added to existing churches and incorporated into plans for new buildings. Efforts to serve
minority communities also resulted in new buildings, most notably the chapel on the Onondaga
Reservation south of Syracuse (1868). Beyond developments within individual parishes, the
period’s Samaritan impulse and need for improved educational facilities led to the establishment of
new institutions including hospitals, homes for the needy and parochial schools, .

The decision to divide the state into new dioceses immediately after the Civil War was a
demonstration in religious terms of the increasing complexity of American life in the latter half of
the nineteenth century. Scientific inquiry growing from Darwin’s discoveries and societal changes
attending rapid industrialization and urbanization contributed to the restless energy pervading all
quadrants of national culture during the postwar decades. In architecture there was vigorous,
wide-ranging exploration of new structural and stylistic possibilities. Inherently conservative and
tied to tradition, Episcopal parishes continued to favor Gothic sources for church design, but with
increasing application of High Victorian Gothic style features. One of several styles in vogue
during the Gilded Age, the High Victorian Gothic drew its inspiration from the theories of the
English art and architecture critic, John Ruskin (1818-1900). Where earlier Gothic Revivalists
confined their sources to English medieval architecture, High Victorians, led by Ruskin, broadened
the search to include sources in continental Europe, particularly northern Italy and France.

[11-prepared for unchecked urbanization and dismayed by its problems, Americans were
extremely receptive to the ideas of John Ruskin who despised cities as incompatible with true

civilization.44 Ruskin’s influence on American architecture derived from his best-known
publications, The Seven Lamps of Architecture (1849) and The Stones of Venice (1851-53),
published simultaneously in England and the United States and reprinted throughout the century.
Here Ruskin laid out the theoretical basis for High Victorian Gothic architecture. According to
Ruskin, great architecture required seven conditions or “lamps.” Of Ruskin’s injunctions, “truth,”
or the rejection of sham construction in favor of expression of materials, was readily apparent in
the use of color, the most characteristic feature of subsequent High Victorian buildings. Color, for
Ruskin, was to be integral with construction materials, and buildings were conceived as a series of
patterned planes. In The Stones of Venice, Ruskin celebrated the richness and color of Venetian
Gothic architecture. Heeding Ruskin, period architects became increasingly eclectic as they
combined English and northern Italian sources, a practice most notable in the use of a variety of
stones and colored bricks to create permanent polychrome, or at least bichrome, effects. Like
earlier Gothic Revivalists, Ruskin equated aesthetics with ethics and morality. An ethical building
would declare its purpose, the rationality of its plan, the nature of its construction and the qualities
of its materials. While Ruskin developed concepts of ornamentation, the French theorist and
restorer of medieval buildings, Viollet-le-Duc, focused on the structural engineering of Gothic
buildings and, through his books, which appeared in American editions after 1870, encouraged the
inclusion of French Gothic sources for High Victorian designers. Together, Ruskin and Viollet-le-

44 For discussion see Edgar Kaufmann, Jr., The Rise of an American Architecture (New York:
Metropolitan Museum of Art, 1970), p.52.
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Duc produced an emphasis on synthesis of structure and ornament which would have considerable
influence on later American architecture.

The first architect to implement the spirit of Ruskin’s theory was the English designer,
William Butterfield (1814-1900) whose All Saint’s Church, London (1849) displayed Ruskinian
polychromy. Perhaps because of Ruskin’s erudite equation of ethics and aesthetics, High
Victorian Gothic was a frequent choice for art, education, and religious buildings. Americans,
always pragmatic and open to new ideas, enthusiastically embraced Ruskin and produced a number
of buildings, including the National Academy of Design (New York, 1863-65, Peter B. Wight)
and Harvard’s Memorial Hall, Cambridge (1870-78, Ware and Van Brunt), notable for their grand
concepts, rich materials and quality craftsmanship. Although, Jacob Wrey Mould produced an
avant-garde, highly polychromatic, example of High Victorian Gothic church design in his All
Souls’ Unitarian Church, nicknamed, “Church of the Holy Zebra,” New York (1853-55, Fig.22),
ecclesiastical buildings in the new style were not built in any great number until after the Civil War.

As in the past, information on new styles was transmitted via pattern books and
increasingly, as the century advanced, through architectural periodicals. Henry Hudson Holly, a
well-known New York City architect, published Church Architecture in 1871, and Frederick
Clarke Withers, an important church architect in the second half of the nineteenth century,
produced his Church Architecture in 1873. Of the architectural journals, the longest-lived were
The American Builder & Journal of Art which began publication in 1868, and American Architect
and Building News which began in 1876. Extensively illustrated, these books and journals, along
with British periodicals available in America, provided the builder-contractor and professional
architect with a wealth of information.

As they absorbed Ruskin and evolved from Gothic Revival to High Victorian Gothic
designs, post-Civil War church architects retained the earlier period’s belief in the moral imperative
of Gothic architecture, a belief which continued to support Gothic sources as those most
appropriate for church buildings. This historic religiosity distinguished High Victorian Gothic
from its numerous rivals, the Second Empire and the Exotic and Renaissance Revivals, which
received scant attention for ecclesiastical work. While an analysis of the degree to which the
Episcopal Church favored High Victorian Gothic designs is beyond the scope of this project, it is
known that a great many churches were built in the new style. Itis also true that many post-bellum
Episcopal churches retained the relative simplicity of their Gothic Revival predecessors albeit with
elements of polychromy, intricate massing and textural richness. At least some measure of the
application of High Victorian Gothic design principles to later nineteenth-century churches is
available in the Rev. George W. Shinn’s King’s Handbook of Notable Episcopal Churches ,
published in 1889. The book featured illustrations and architectural information on churches from
all periods including the most recent, High Victorian Gothic, and Shinn’s choice of entries
suggests the buildings then considered most significant within the historic body of Church
architecture.

While many architects executed designs for Episcopal parishes, several were particularly
well-known for their work for the Church. Leopold Eidlitz (1823-1908), produced a famous, or
infamous, design for Church of the Holy Trinity, New York (1873, Fig.23). Noted for its
fanciful red-and-yellow brickwork, the church was nicknamed “Church of the Homely Oilcloth,”
and must certainly have provoked discussion of the new High Victorian style. Richard Michell
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Upjohn (1828-1903) introduced Victorian Gothic to the repertoire of his father’s office and applied
the style to the tower and spire added to Grace Church, Utica (1856-60, Fig.24) a decade after its
original construction. Henry Dudley (1813-1894) designed 162 churches, half of which were in
New York State. In central New York, Dudley expanded his earlier Gothic Revival oeuvre to
include the High Victorian Gothic design for Syracuse’s St. Paul’s Cathedral (1883-85). Henry
M. Congdon (1834-1922) executed many distinctive High Victorian Gothic designs including one
of the first substantive examples in the Diocese of Central New York, Calvary Church, Utica
(1870-72, Fig.25). Several regional architects, no doubt known through first-hand experience of
their work, also produced Episcopal churches in central New York. Examples include Syracuse’s
Horatio Nelson White who designed St. James’ Church, Skaneateles (1874), and Buffalo’s W.H.
Archer who designed St. John’s Church, Oneida (1895-96).

As they had been for the Gothic Revival style, historic and contemporary European
prototypes for High Victorian Gothic design were, universally, of masonry construction. With
stone and brick too expensive for many New World parishes, the uniquely American form of the
Gothic Revival style, the board-and-batten church was developed to take advantage of the low cost
and wide-availability of wood. The high price of materials and labor during the prosperous years
of the Gilded Age promoted postwar architectural creativity closely paralleling the earlier
development. Evolved from the Carpenter Gothic style where vertical siding expressed the “truth”
of vertical timber framing, the Stick Style of the post-Civil War period also suggested structural
honesty through its exterior stickwork intended to suggest interior framing. Developed at the same
time as the balloon frame, this distinctive stickwork was, in fact, merely applied ornament, and the
Stick style stressed the wall surface as a decorative element. Given this emphasis on patterned wall
surface, the Stick Style can be considered the wooden version of the polychromy of masonry High
Victorian Gothic. Because of their relatively low cost, frame High Victorian Gothic churches,
often with Stick Style detail, were deemed appropriate for rural parishes and were constructed in
several communities in the Diocese, including Jamesville (St. Mark’s Church, 1878, Fig.26) As
might have been expected, the style was particularly popular for smaller mission churches
established during Bishop Huntington’s tenure and generally quite short-lived, some actually
closing before his death in 1904.

At a national level, the economic travail attending the Panic of 1873 dimmed the prospects
for High Victorian Gothic buildings. The most significant examples of the style were elaborately
conceived and expensive to construct. A decade of recession diminished the affluence that had
sustained the most high style Ruskinian architectural projects. The example of central New York
suggests, however, that at the local level, where buildings were more simply conceived, the
Episcopal Church maintained its traditional interest in Gothic architecture. The Gothic Revival and
High Victorian Gothic styles were chosen for the great majority of churches built in the Diocese
through the end of the nineteenth century. Nonetheless, there were seemingly isolated, local
instances of application of important architectural styles, the Richardsonian Romanesque and
Shingle Styles, established in the late nineteenth century.

Introduced to a broad audience with his plans for Trinity Church, Boston (1872-77,
Fig.27), Henry Hobson Richardson’s (1838-1886) Romanesque Revival style offered a significant
alternative to the associational and reformist bases of the Gothic Revivals. Richardson intended no
metaphysical content for his buildings, no return to the Dark Ages. Instead, his work convinced
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by the sheer force of its aesthetic elements, integrated spatial planning, textural surface richness
and free massing of large, simple forms. Trinity Church was widely-known and single-handedly
propelled Richardson and his Romanesque to the forefront of American architecture. Although he
produced only one executed design for a church after Trinity,45 the Boston project created a broad
demand among several denominations for new churches in the Romanesque Revival style. While
the level of awareness of Richardson’s work within the Diocese of Central New Y ork is presently
unknown, it is probable that Bishop Huntington, a Boston native and contemporary of Trinity’s
rector, Phillips Brooks, was very familiar with the new church. Given the publicity that attended
its completion, churchmen throughout the Diocese no doubt knew of the building. Richardson
was also known in upstate New York for the Albany City Hall (1880-83) and for his competition
plans for Albany’s All Saints’ Cathedral, 1882-83. The nation’s first Episcopal cathedral, All
Saints’ was eventually built to the Gothic Revival designs of Robert W. Gibson (1854-1927). At
the opposite end of the state, Richardson designed the Buffalo State Hospital (1869-80) and
prepared plans, published but unexecuted, for Trinity Church, Buffalo (c1871-72). Enthusiasm
for the style, demonstrated at the center of the Diocese in Syracuse with the Romanesque Revival
City Hall (1892), was reflected as well in a limited number of churches, including St. Paul’s
Church, Watertown (1889-90, L.B. Valk & Son, Fig.28) and St. Ann’s Church, Afton (1891).

The Shingle Style, the second of the late nineteenth-century styles to appear in isolated
instances in the Diocese, developed from a Centennial-inspired interest in the nation’s roots,
specifically its architectural past. Reacting against the excesses, architectural and otherwise, of the
Gilded Age, Americans sought the security of history and tradition. In architecture, people wanted
a unifying style that would represent the nation as a whole. The coincidental rise of fashionable
resort life in communities along the New England coast drew attention to their indigenous,
shingled, Colonial architecture. Both the towns and their buildings were associated with a simpler,
agrarian past and quickly came to represent the virtue and strengths of America’s early days.
Developed from an appreciation for the irregular massing, warm, flowing, shingled surfaces and
interaction with nature that characterized America’s First Period houses, the Shingle Style was the
first phase of the country’s Colonial Revival period. In contrast to the Stick Style, the Shingle
Style frame was completely concealed under a thin skin of shingles perceived as shaped by interior
volumes. Because of its popularity for vacation houses, architectural historian, Vincent Scully,
has called the Shingle Style, “the architecture of the American summer,” a label which may well
explain its choice for the Church of the St. Lawrence (Fig.29), the principle example of the style
within the Diocese, constructed in 1887-91, in a resort community on the St. Lawrence River.

By the 1880s, the unsettling effects of exposure to a kaleidoscopic range of architectural
styles and the sheer creative of force of one of them, the Richardsonian Romanesque, had reduced
interest in the archaelogically-correct Gothic of Pugin and Ruskin. However, as the century
closed, circumstances began to change. While the country took its early halting steps as a world
leader, architecture looked again to past styles for both stability and grandeur of scale. Increasing
numbers of American architects trained in Europe, experiencing first-hand both classical and
Gothic sources. At the same time, architectural photographs, which began to illustrate building

45 Emmanuel Church, Pittsburgh, 1883-86, noted in Marcus Whiffen, American Architecture Since 1780:
A Guide to the Styles (Cambridge: MIT Press, 1969), p.136.
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journals, offered architects a fuller sense of historic sources than had earlier wood engravings.
Within the Episcopal Church, the need continued for new church buildings in urban areas where
the Social Gospel promoted humanitarian work, in suburbs served by streetcars and later
automobiles and in rural areas, still perceived as fields for missionary activity.

The architectural scene was set for a resurgence of interest in Gothic architecture when
Henry Vaughn (1845-1917), perhaps encouraged by the need in America for Anglican church

architects,46 arrived in Boston in 1881. Trained in his native England, Vaughn led the way in
establishing the Late Gothic Revival, or Collegiate Gothic, style which became most widely-
known in the late nineteenth and early twentieth centuries through the work of Ralph Adams Cram
(1863-1942) and Bertram Grosvenor Goodhue (1869-1924). With Vaughn’s Chapel of St. Peter
and St. Paul at St. Paul’s School, Concord, NH, (1886-94, Fig.30) and Cram and Goodhue’s All
Saints’ Church, Ashmont, MA (1891, Fig.31), the country was introduced to the most historically
accurate Gothic yet known. Influenced by the liturgical and architectural thought of the Oxford
Movement and by Vaughn’s work, Cram became the leading spokesman for and practitioner of the
new style. Convinced of the unity of art and religion, Cram believed that successful ecclesiastical
architecture required a return to the point in Tudor England when the Reformation and Renaissance
had together destroyed the tradition of medieval architecture. Looking to Perpendicular Gothic as
the starting point for new stylistic developments, Cram intended to create an archaeologically
correct Gothic suited to the needs of a modern nation. Other period architects took a more
interpretive approach to medieval sources, producing designs that synthesized historic precedents
and projected their spirit rather than their detail.

Cram’s and Goodhue’s work gained national stature when their firm, Cram, Goodhue and
Ferguson, won the competition for expansion of the United States Military Academy at West Point
(1903-10). Their Cadet Chapel (1910) demonstrated the spatial magnificence and sophisticated
detail which became hallmarks of the finest Collegiate Gothic buildings. Many commissions
followe